# ROLE OF MECHANICAL VERSUS HUMORAL EFFECTS OF ANGIOTENSIN II ON VASCULAR REMODELING

A Thesis Presented to The Academic Faculty

By

Preeti Pandurang Shanbhag

In Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering

Georgia Institute of Technology

May 2006

# ROLE OF MECHANICAL VERSUS HUMORAL EFFECTS OF ANGIOTENSIN II ON VASCULAR REMODELING

Approved by:

Dr. W. Robert Taylor, Advisor Department of Biomedical Engineering/School of Medicine Georgia Institute of Technology/Emory University

Dr. Samuel C. Dudley, Jr. Department of Biomedical Engineering/School of Medicine Georgia Institute of Technology/Emory University

Dr. Hanjoong Jo Department of Biomedical Engineering/School of Medicine Georgia Institute of Technology/Emory University

Date Approved: December 12, 2005

To my family

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. W. Robert Taylor, for his guidance and assistance throughout this project. I would like to thank my labmates – John Brown, Dwayne Campbell, Patrick Cowan, Craig Duvall, Dardo Ferrara, Giji Joseph, Natalia Landazuri, Katie Maiellaro, Jose Mendez, Scott Robinson, Diane Sutcliffe, Daiana Weiss, Matt Whalin, and Elethia Woolfolk – for their technical help, support, and friendship. Thanks to my parents, Pandurang and Rukma Shanbhag. Thanks to my older brother, Vinayak.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLED	GEMENTS		vi
LIST OF TABI	ES		vii
LIST OF FIGU	IRES		viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS		х	
SUMMARY			xi
CHAPTER 1:	INTRODUCTI	ON	1
1.1	Why Study Vascular Injury?		1
1.2	Specific Aims		
CHAPTER 2:	DEFINING THI	E ROLE OF ANG II IN VASCULAR REMODELING	4
2.2	Background and Significance		4
	2.2.1	Vascular Remodeling	4
	2.2.2	Renin-Angiotensin System	5
	2.2.3	Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme	6
	2.2.4	Ang II and Downstream Effects	7
	2.2.5	Ang II and Cell-Cycle Regulation of VSMCs	8
	2.2.6	Angiotensin II receptors	9
	2.2.7	Animal Models	10
	2.2.8	Vascular Injury Models	11
	2.2.9	ACE Inhibitors and ARBs in Vascular Injury	13
2.3	Materials and	Methods	13
	2.3.1	Animals	13
	2.3.2	Blood Pressures	14
	2.3.3	Flow-cessation vascular injury model	14
	2.3.4	Morphometry	14

	2.3.5		Analysis	16
2.4	Result	ts		16
	2.4.1		Blood Pressure	16
	2.4.2		Characterization of Flow-Cessation Model	17
	2.4.3		Day-7 Analysis	21
	2.4.4		Day-14 Analysis	23
	2.4.5		Day-21 Analysis	25
	2.4.6		Time Point Analysis	27
2.5	Discussion		29	
2.6	Conclusion		32	
CHAPTER 3:	FUTURE DIRECTIONS		33	
3.1	Introduction		33	
3.2	Potential Future Studies		34	
	3.2.1	.1 Confirming BK receptor presence in remodeling carotid artery		34
	3.2.2	2 Evaluation of BK involvement in the differential effects of ACE inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade		34
	3.2.3	Definiı	ng the role of BK receptors in vascular remodeling	35
REFERENCE	S			36

Table 2-1 Blood Pressures

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1	Method of histomorphometric analysis	15
Figure 2-2	Comparison of EEL perimeters of left carotid artery at 0-, 7-, 14-, and 21-days post-surgery	18
Figure 2-3	Spatial analysis of ligated carotid arteries at 7-, 14-, and 21-days post-surgery	19
Figure 2-4	Collagen content is greatest proximal to the ligature in the 21-day timepoint	20
Figure 2-5	7-Day Morphometric Analysis	22
Figure 2-6	14-Day Morphometric Analysis	24
Figure 2-7	21-Day Morphometric Analysis	26
Figure 2-8	Time Point Analysis of Morphometry Between Control, Amlodipine, Candesartan, and Captopril groups at 7-, 14-, and 21-day timepoints	27

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACE	angiotensin-converting enzyme
ACE-I	angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor
Ang II	angiotensin II
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ARB	angiotensin receptor blocker
AT₁R	angiotensin receptor, type 1
AT <sub>2</sub> R	angiotensin receptor, type 2
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
ВК	bradykinin
BK B <sub>1</sub>	bradykinin B₁ receptor
BK B <sub>2</sub>	bradykinin B <sub>2</sub> receptor
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
DAG	diacylglycerol
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
$H_2O_2$	hydrogen peroxide
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IP <sub>3</sub>	inositol triphosphate
MAP kinase	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
NAD(P)H	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NO	nitric oxide
0 <sub>2</sub> -	superoxide anion
ONOO <sup>-</sup>	peroxynitrite
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor

protein kinase C
phospholipase C
Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty
renin-angiotensin system
reactive oxygen species
standard deviation
standard error mean
Spontaneously Hypertensive Rat
superoxide dismutase
transforming growth factor-β
vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
vascular smooth muscle cell
Wistar-Kyoto rat

#### SUMMARY

Consequences of pathological vascular remodeling include complete arterial occlusions resulting in an ischemic environment, or the development of vulnerable plaques which may rupture and lead to thrombosis. In this study, we investigated the role of Ang II in vascular remodeling. We sought to determine whether the humoral or the mechanical effects of Ang II are the dominant factor driving the remodeling process.

The following experimental groups were used in this study: control group (untreated mice), mice treated with an angiotensin receptor blocker (Candesartan, 0.5 mg/kg/day,SQ), an ACE inhibitor (Captopril, 6 mg/kg/day), and a calcium-channel blocker (Amlodipine, 7.5 mg/kg/day). All mice (n=6 per experimental group) were from the C57BI/6 background. We implemented the carotid ligation model of vascular injury to study the differences in vascular remodeling. We used multiple time points (7-, 14-, and 21-days post-surgery) to track the progression of the remodeling process as assessed by comparative histomorphometry. At the 7-day time point, we observed that all three treatment groups yielded similar remodeling patterns as evidenced by a significant reduction in neointimal area, medial thickening and hypertrophy compared with the control group. Histomorphometric analysis of carotid sections collected 1mm below the ligation demonstrated that the Amlodipine group had 26% reduction in total vessel area, Candesartan a 36% reduction, and Captopril a 28% reduction (p<0.05 in all groups compared with Control), as well as a parallel 38-40% drop in medial thickness. In Day-14 analysis, we did not observe significant differences between the Controls and the treatment groups, although differences were emerging between the treatment groups. Candesartan was found to reduce the extent of negative remodeling observed between the 7- and 14-day Control data, whereas the Captopril group did not exhibit this trend. All three treatment groups exhibited less neointimal formation than Controls, similar to Day-7. By the 21-day time point, the Captopril group underwent positive

xi

remodeling, resembling the Candesartan and Amlodipine groups. Although total vessel area was analogous among all groups, neointimal areas were significantly decreased in the treatment groups.

We report that blood pressure plays a pivotal role in the modulation of vascular remodeling in response to mechanical injury. Although intermediate timepoint analysis suggests that humoral aspects of ACE inhibition or angiotensin-receptor blockade yielded unique effects on the overall vessel caliber, upon reaching the late, 21-day time point, the mechanical factors became predominant. These data support the importance of blood pressure control in the attenuation of pathological vascular remodeling.

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 The Importance of Vascular Injury Research

Vascular injury is a ubiquitous term used to generalize the biological response to a broad range of abnormalities afflicting the vessel wall. The type of response is dependent on the short- and long-term nature of the injury, which is apparent based upon the resulting lesion morphology. Examples of the response to injury include neointimal formation, changes to vessel size and caliber, proliferation or apoptosis of cells comprising the vessel wall, and recruitment of inflammatory cells to the site of the lesion. Vascular injury plays a key role in the manifestation of an array of cardiovascular diseases, including hypertension, atherosclerosis, stroke, restenosis, and diabetic vascular complications. Of these, coronary heart disease is the most prevalent cause of death in the developed world, afflicting 35% of the United States and Western European population [1].

There is extensive evidence demonstrating the involvement of the reninangiotensin system (RAS) in the progression of cardiovascular pathologies. ACE and angiotensin receptors expression are known to become upregulated in areas of vascular injury. Three clinical trials have been published evaluating the benefits of ACE inhibitor treatment in coronary artery disease (CAD), namely: Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE), European Trial on Reduction of Cardiac Events with Perindopril in Stable Coronary Artery Disease (EUROPA), and Prevention of Events with Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibition (PEACE) [2-4]. Each trial recruited patients that had preserved left ventricular function and risk for coronary or other vascular disease [5]. They used different, yet well studied ACE inhibitors: HOPE administered ramipril,

EUROPA administered perindopril, and PEACE administered trandolapril. The HOPE and EUROPA trials demonstrate a benefit of administration of ACE inhibitors on reducing atherosclerotic complications, whereas the PEACE trial outcomes showed ACE inhibitor therapy ineffective. The main difference in patient populations between these trials was that HOPE and EUROPA trials recruited patients that were at higher risk for adverse cardiovascular events than the stable, low-risk patients comprising the PEACE trial [6].

Atherosclerosis is a very complex, multifactorial disease affecting the arterial wall. Over the years, its origin has been the focus of intense scrutiny, and as a result, several hypotheses have been formulated and published. The results from these clinical trials were inconsistent, supporting the need for further investigation examining the role of Ang II in vascular injury. To date there are no animal models that fully represent the pathogenesis and morphology of human lesions. Because this type of lesion is so complex, several animal models have been developed to differentiate its various underlying biological processes. In this study, we will be utilizing an injury model that was developed to isolate the response of vascular remodeling, particularly neointimal formation.

#### 1.2 Specific Aims

Although the majority of literature regarding vascular injury to date focuses on neointimal hyperplasia and smooth muscle cell proliferation, the emerging notion implicates arterial wall remodeling as being the primary contributor to the underlying mechanisms regulating restenosis [7, 8]. Several models have been developed to study the various aspects of vascular injury, such as medial hypertrophy and thickening, inflammatory cell recruitment, neointimal proliferation, and adventitial fibrosis [7]. In this project, we will employ the flow-cessation vascular injury model to define the role of Ang II in vascular remodeling. We hope to achieve this by evaluating the spatial and

temporal effects of ACE inhibition and angiotensin-receptor blockade via comparative histomorphometry. Our two specific aims are: (1) to characterize the flow-cessation vascular injury model (2) to evaluate the predominance of the humoral versus mechanical effects of Ang II in pathological vascular remodeling.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### DEFINING THE ROLE OF ANG II IN VASCULAR REMODELING

2.1 Background and Significance

#### 2.1.1 Vascular Remodeling

Vascular remodeling is a complex, adaptive/maladaptive process by which vessels undergo structural alterations in response to biochemical and/or biomechanical stimuli. It is initially observed in embryonic development during the process of vasculogenesis, when the earliest signs of a developing heart and blood vessels occur, and continues throughout growth and maturation depending on long-term changes in their mechanical and hemodynamic environment [9, 10]. The process of vascular remodeling involves differences in the following cellular processes: cell growth, cell death, cell migration, and production or degradation of extracellular matrix [11].

Multiple factors influence the remodeling process, such as vasoactive substances, growth factors, and hemodynamic changes [12-15]. The endothelium plays a particularly prominent role in remodeling due to its direct exposure to humoral factors, inflammatory mediators, and physical forces [11]. Numerous studies have proven that blood pressure has a pivotal influence on the remodeling of arteries [12, 16, 17]. As supportive evidence for the influence of hemodynamic factors on vessel remodeling, local conditions following balloon angioplasty are characterized by low shear stress and increased wall stress, due to acute lumen area restoration. Constrictive remodeling has been observed as an adaptive mechanism to return to normalized shear stress values; in the case where vascular remodeling is lacking, neointimal growth is replaced [12].

#### 2.1.2 Renin-Angiotensin System

The renin-angiotensin system (RAS) is a central regulator of blood pressure, which is also involved in water and salt balance, tissue growth and perfusion. The RAS is modulated by baroreceptors, whose main function is to detect changes in blood pressure. When the effective circulating volume decreases, followed by a decrease in blood pressure, baroreceptors are activated and send signals via the renal sympathetic nerve, resulting in the granular cells of the juxtaglomerular apparatus releasing renin, a protease that has specificity for angiotensinogen and catalyzes its conversion to angiotensin I (Ang I), a decapeptide. Ang I then transforms due to cleavage of two amino acids into Ang II, an octapeptide, via angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE). Ang II is a potent vasoconstrictor that mediates its effects upon binding to its receptors, AT<sub>1</sub> and AT<sub>2</sub>, although Ang II has greater affinity for the AT<sub>1</sub> receptor [18, 19].

Traditionally, the RAS was believed to have only a systemic influence due to its effects on blood pressure. Once renin is secreted from the kidneys, it is released into the bloodstream where it comes into contact with angiotensinogen produced in the liver, thus producing Ang I. Ang I is then cleaved to form Ang II by ACE predominantly expressed in the lungs. However, recent evidence points to a parallel, tissue-based RAS located in the vascular wall, particularly in areas of atherosclerotic lesions. This was validated by detection of the mRNA of the various components of RAS in macrophages and cell types composing the arterial wall [20]. ACE expression in the arterial wall is predominantly localized in the endothelium, although ACE expression is known to be upregulated in VSMCs upon conversion from contractile to synthetic phenotype [21, 22]. Specifically, Fukuda et al was one of the first groups to demonstrate that VSMCs incorporates all the components necessary to generate Ang II, based on homogeneous cultures of VSMCs derived from SHR [23].

However, the sole component not detected in the vessel wall, and thus not locally synthesized was renin [24], suggesting that the underlying mechanism behind local Ang II production involves the endothelium-mediated cellular uptake of renin from the systemic circulation [20]. Hence, the verification of RAS components in the vessel wall with the additional preconception of the pro-inflammatory effects of Ang II supports the constitutive influence of RAS in vascular remodeling.

## 2.1.3 Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme

ACE is a zinc carboxypeptidase that is anchored to the plasma membrane [25]. The primary function of ACE in the cardiovascular system is to cleave Ang I to form Ang II and to degrade bradykinin into inactive fragments. ACE is predominantly found in a tissue-bound state and expressed by a variety of other somatic tissues, including renal tubular epithelium, activated macrophages, ciliated gut epithelium, and areas within the central nervous system [26, 27]. Roughly ten percent resides in circulation since it is an ectoenzyme and can slough into the bloodstream, where it is considered plasma ACE [28]. In the vessel wall, ACE is principally expressed in the endothelium, where it produces Ang II adjacent to vascular smooth muscle cells comprising the media [28]. Monocytes and macrophages are also known to express ACE, and more notably, in areas of plaque formation, ACE expression is upregulated in these cell types [29].

In understanding the causal nature of blood pressure control and presence of RAS components, it is known that while renin levels vary in response to changes in blood pressure, ACE levels are far less variable [27]. The use of targeted homologous recombination in mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells has led to the development of a series of transgenic mice with tissue-selective expression of the ACE gene [26, 28, 30]. This was achieved by incorporating a neomycin resistance cassette to disrupt the somatic ACE promoter, followed by the insertion of a tissue-specific promoter to yield the desirable ACE specificity [28]. Therefore, by altering the expression levels of ACE,

insight has and will be gained into the true function and contribution of systemic RAS vs. tissue RAS in various conditions.

#### 2.1.4 Ang II and downstream effects

Ang II, the effector molecule of RAS, is a vasoactive octapeptide  $(Asp^{1}-Arg^{2}-Val^{3}-Tyr^{4}-Ile^{5}-His^{6}-Pro^{7}-Phe^{8}-COO^{-})$  which plays a role in the etiology of hypertension as well as the pathophysiology of cardiovascular and renal diseases [31, 32]. In these conditions, Ang II generates elevated blood pressure, vasoconstriction, and increased cardiac contractility [31]. Inhibition of ACE and blockade of the AT<sub>1</sub> receptor is a common therapy for treatment of hypertension and atherosclerosis, as current data suggests beneficial effects on endothelial function, vascular smooth muscle cells, and inflammatory vascular processes [33].

In addition to the mechanical effects of Ang II, there are also humoral effects on the cardiovascular system. Ang II contributes to oxidative stress in the vascular wall by activating the NAD(P)H oxidases [34]. The NAD(P)H oxidases are the predominant source of ROS in various cardiovascular pathologies [34-36], including hypertension, atherosclerosis, and post-angioplasty restenosis. Activation of the NAD(P)H oxidases leads to the production of superoxide anion ( $O_2^-$ ), a short-lived free radical known to react with nitric oxide (NO) to form peroxynitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>), a strong oxidant. Alternatively,  $O_2^-$  can become dismutated by superoxide dismutase (SOD) to form hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is an uncharged molecule that has greater stability than superoxide or peroxynitrite, allowing it to diffuse to neighboring cells where it is involved in the cell signaling of numerous pathophysiological responses depending on the vascular cell type.

The downstream effects of Ang II include the induction of pro-inflammatory genes (ex. ICAM-1, VCAM-1, MCP-1) and activation of matrix-metalloproteases (MMPs). It also plays a role in inducing the phenotypic change of smooth muscle cells from a

contractile to a synthetic, proliferative phenotype [31, 37-41]. Another effect of Ang II is to increase mRNA expression and activity of plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1), implicating its participation in thrombosis, based on in vitro studies using rat aortic smooth muscle cells [42].

#### 2.1.5 Ang II and cell-cycle regulation of VSMCs

A survey of literature regarding the role of Ang II in cell cycle regulation implicates a complex and dual-nature function. Under physiological conditions, Ang II has been found to modulate cell cycle regulatory elements of VSMCs, particularly at the  $G_1$  to S phase, thus confirming its role in cell growth and hypertrophy [43]. This role is dependent on the AT<sub>1</sub> receptor, based on in vitro studies of cultured VSMCs derived from spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) and normotensive Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats using AT<sub>1</sub> and AT<sub>2</sub> selective inhibitors. Signal transduction cascades that are activated upon binding of Ang II to AT<sub>1</sub> receptor include activation of PLC, subsequent generation of IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG, leading to activation of PKC, MAP kinases, and increased intracellular calcium [Ca2+] [44]. This activation of PKC and MAP kinases leads to induction of c-fos and c-myc protooncogenes [45, 46]. Upon comparison of SHR and WKY vascular smooth muscle cells, the SHR cells were characterized by increased DNA synthesis, shorter cell cycle, and accelerated transition from  $G_1$  to S phase compared to WKY cells, presumably due to increased endogenous Ang II production [43, 47-49]. The Ang II participation was validated after treatment with an AT<sub>1</sub>R blocker yielded results equivalent to its normotensive counterpart. In addition, the selectivity of the AT<sub>1</sub>R was supported as treatment with a selective AT<sub>2</sub>R demonstrated no change [50]. An additional finding that supports the role of Ang II in proliferation is Ang II induces intracellular alkalinization correlated with stimulation of DNA synthesis and cellular growth, in addition to increased actin-myosin sensitivity to  $Ca^{2+}$  [51].

Although considerable evidence supports the role of Ang II in VSMC hypertrophy, similar studies fail to support its role in VSMC proliferation [52, 53]. Ang II was not found to exert any effects on the  $G_2$  to M phase under physiologic conditions, thereby discounting its mitogenic influence [43]. However, reports have shown that at sites of arterial injury, Ang II does play a mitogenic role on VSMCs [38, 50, 54]. This influence is indirect, as it is thought to be dependent upon the secretion of autocrine growth factors, such as PDGF, bFGF, and TGF- $\beta$ 1 [47, 54]. The mechanisms underlying Ang II-induced VSMC proliferation has not yet been completely defined due to limited data focused on cell cycle regulation.

#### 2.1.6 Angiotensin II receptors

There are four subtypes of Ang II receptors, namely  $AT_1R$  (type 1A and 1B),  $AT_2R$  (type 2),  $AT_3R$ , and  $AT_4R$ . The  $AT_1$  receptor is ubiquitously expressed and all the classically-known, proatherogenic effects of Ang II are attributed to this receptor [55, 56]. These downstream effects (anti-apoptotic for SMCs, neointimal hyperplasia, etc.) occur upon the binding of Ang II to its  $AT_1$  receptor. The  $AT_1$  receptor was first cloned by two separate groups in 1991, which has led to further research in the molecular structure and function of this receptor, as well as the development of angiotensin-receptor blockers [57, 58]. Under physiologic conditions, Ang II has much higher specificity for the  $AT_1$  receptor [19]. Both  $AT_1$  and  $AT_2$  receptors are members of the seven transmembrane-spanning, G-protein coupled receptor family [31, 55, 59].

The AT<sub>2</sub> receptor is not well understood for multiple reasons. Firstly, the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor distribution is not homogeneous amongst somatic tissues of the adult animal. Expression is dependent on age, species, vessel type, and pathophysiological state [55, 56, 60, 61]. For example, at sites of vascular injury and wound healing, AT<sub>2</sub> receptor expression occurs most likely as a compensatory mechanism and interestingly sustains levels similar to the total expression level of AT<sub>1</sub> receptor [56, 62]. In this setting, the

main cell types expressing the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor are macrophages and SMCs. The AT<sub>2</sub> receptor response has been observed to be antagonistic to the AT<sub>1</sub> receptor (e.g. antiproliferative, pro-apoptotic for SMCs, anti-fibrotic, vasodilation, etc.) [56, 62]. Stimulation of the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor has been shown to activate the bradykinin B<sub>2</sub> receptor, resulting in NO synthesis and cGMP upregulation in rabbits and spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) [63, 64]. Studies using transgenic mice overexpressing the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor have high cGMP content, but the effects are normalized with NO-synthesis or bradykinin B<sub>2</sub> receptor blockade [55, 65]. Additionally, some studies using the AT<sub>2</sub>R<sup>-/-</sup> mice have shown that AT<sub>2</sub> receptor activation results in decreased ACE [55, 66].

#### 2.1.7 Animal Models

The main animal models used in the study of vascular injury are nonhuman primate, porcine, rabbit, and rodent. Of these, the nonhuman primate and porcine are the most relevant because their lesion distribution, pathogenesis, and morphology mimic that of humans most accurately [7]. However, due to large size, high-cost and difficulty in procurement and handling, their usage is quite limited. The rabbit model is another commonly investigated species in cardiovascular research. The rabbit develops spontaneous and diet-induced atherosclerosis. However, comparative lesion analysis demonstrates a morphology characterized by medial degeneration instead of robust intima-centered lesion development [67, 68]. The development of new strains along with dietary manipulations has circumvented these limitations, although their usage is dependent on the practicality of procurement and cost factors [7, 68].

The major disadvantage of the rodent model is that vessel targeting for reproducible injury is challenging due to size limitations. In addition, there are divergent cellular mechanisms and pathogenesis underlying rat versus human lesions [69]. Although the rodent model does not yield lesions that are most analogous to humans, various injury models to mimic differential aspects of vascular injury have been

implemented to gain further insight into the pathogenesis, morphology, and optimal pharmacologic treatment for lesion development. The most popular and wellcharacterized rodent model is the balloon injury model, developed by Carmeliet's research group [70]. This model has been extensively used in pre-clinical trials for evaluating the efficacy of ACE-Is and ARBs in vascular injury. In recent years, the mouse model has become particularly favorable because, in addition to their being costeffective and easily available, advances in gene-manipulating techniques allow for the use of transgenic or knock-out mice to examine the effects of a single gene with the goal of elucidating its function in vascular biology.

#### 2.1.8 Vascular Injury Models

The four major modes of vascular injury in the murine setting are: wire-injury endovascular injury, flow-cessation vascular injury, cuff-mediated perivascular injury, and electric perivascular injury. The size of the mouse vasculature is the main drawback to employing the balloon angioplasty compared to larger animal models. The wire-injury endovascular injury was developed by Lindner's group, involving the insertion of an inert wire into either the carotid or femoral artery resulting in complete endothelial denudation and SMC apoptosis, thereby emulating the effects of PTCA [71]. The major setbacks to this model are surgical variability in yielding a reproducible injury, as well as the lack of a site marker to localize the site of injury for comparative analysis.

The cuff-mediated perivascular injury is unique in that a polyethylene tube is positioned around the femoral artery, thereby mimicking stenosis. This model is particularly useful for studying neointimal proliferation, particularly monocyte and macrophage infiltration [72]. However, it is not ideal for studying vascular remodeling because the polyethylene tube exerts constraints on the overall vessel size, resulting in the inability to evaluate positive or negative remodeling.

The electric perivascular injury model of studying arterial injury involves a single delivery of electric current on the surface of a surgically exposed femoral artery. The induction of this injury model is less biologically relevant, but the wound-healing response is documented to resemble the process of restenosis observed in human arteries. The focal area of injury experienced complete endothelial denudation, ablation of encompassing smooth muscle cells, and transiently induced platelet-rich mural thrombosis followed by infiltration by inflammatory cells [73].

The flow-cessation vascular injury model, our chosen model in this study, involves the ligation of the left common carotid artery distal to the aortic arch, thus inducing permanent changes in shear stress conditions [74]. Ligation provides a marker for analysis, thereby minimizing variability as a result from analysis. This model is favorable for studying vessel remodeling because it does not incorporate any constraints to the overall vessel size. After thorough characterization of the carotid ligation model, the vascular response was found to include smooth muscle cell proliferation, inward remodeling, and neointimal formation, all features of pathological remodeling [74]. Also, the advantage of using the carotid artery in this model is that it eliminates the possibility of remodeling as a result of hypoxia, as it has been shown that blood flow through the brain is conserved via the circle of Willis and flow-mediated vasodilation of the contralateral artery [75]. There are fewer cases of thrombosis in this model compared to the wire endovascular injury or electric perivascular injury because the endothelium is largely intact, thereby functioning as an anti-thrombotic layer protecting the vessel wall. This setting is suitable for studies focused on substances secreted from or targeted to the endothelium [76]. The major disadvantage to this model, is that it results in a complete cessation of blood flow proximal to the ligature and near-stasis conditions distally, which is not necessarily biologically relevant.

#### 2.1.9 ACE Inhibitors and ARBs in Vascular Injury

The seminal paper addressing the prevention of neointimal formation via ACE inhibition employed the rat balloon-injury model [77]. Numerous studies have since been published citing the benefits and vasoprotective effects of ACE inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade. In support of ACE inhibitors, data demonstrates that reduced neointimal proliferation is caused by decreased bradykinin breakdown, which upon binding to BK B<sub>2</sub> receptors [78, 79] exerts potent vasodilative effects, as well as enhance NO bioavailability through endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) [80, 81]. ACE inhibition causes decreased Ang II generation, leading to an attenuation of cell proliferation [82], expression of pro-inflammatory molecules (ex. MCP-1), and oxidative stress [83, 84].

AT1 receptor blockade, on the other hand, has no effect on ACE activity. In addition to preventing the vasoconstricting, pro-inflammatory, hypertrophic, and hyperplastic effects of Ang II via the AT<sub>1</sub>R, its benefits are derived by stimulation of the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor, which has been cited to exert antagonistic effects [56, 85, 86], thus promoting a vasoprotective environment. AT<sub>2</sub>R signaling pathways have been found to influence cGMP/NO [64] and BK [64, 65].

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Animals

Male mice were used from the C57BI/6J background (Jackson laboratories, Bar Harbor, Minn). An n=6 was used per experimental group. All mice were 10-12 weeks of age and 25-30g. They were administered standard chow diet (Research Diets) and water ad libitum, and were housed in climate-controlled, pathogen-free conditions with 12/12 hours of light/dark cycle. Mice were used in accordance with the guidelines of the National Institute of Health for the care and use of laboratory animals. All experimental

procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of Emory University.

#### 2.2.2 Blood Pressures

Systolic blood pressures were measured using tail-cuff plethysmography (Visitech Systems, USA). All animals were allowed one week to acclimatize to the process by taking daily non-recorded measurements in the effort to avoid anxietyinduced aberrations in blood pressure. After the initial week, blood pressures were recorded from each mouse before the induction of vascular injury. Blood pressures were then recorded post-operatively every 7 days upon approaching the appropriate timepoint.

#### 2.2.3 Flow-cessation vascular injury model

Surgery was performed aseptically as previously described [74, 87]. Mice were anesthetized using ketamine HCI (80 mg/kg, Abbott Laboratories) and xylazine (5 mg/kg, Bayer Corporation) by intraperitoneal injection. Hair was removed from the neck area, followed by a small midline incision of the neck. The left carotid artery was exposed and ligated approximately 1mm below the bifurcation using a 6-0 silk suture (Ethicon). The wound was closed using 4-0 silk sutures. The Captopril and Candesartan treated mice were then implanted with osmotic minipumps (Alzet, Alza Co., Palo Alto, CA, USA) to deliver 6 mg/kg/day of Captopril, and 0.5 mg/kg/day of Candesartan, respectively. Mice were then allowed time for recovery on a warming blanket at 37°C; then returned to their cages. The mice treated with Amlodipine were administered 7.5 mg/kg/day through diet. The efficacy of the treatments was monitored by measuring systolic blood pressures. Sham mice used in this study did not undergo ligation of the left common carotid artery.

#### 2.2.4 Morphometry

Mice were euthanized at the 7-, 14-, and 21-day timepoints using carbon dioxide asphyxiation, and were pressure perfused at approximately 100 mmHg through the left

ventricle using 0.9% saline for 10 minutes and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for an additional 10 minutes. The common carotid arteries were then excised, immersed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 hours, tissue processed, and embedded in paraffin wax for morphological evaluation. Ten segments were collected along the length of the carotid with 150-micron spacing between segments, starting proximal to the ligature and proceeding down to the aortic arch. Each segment constitutes ten serial sections of 8 micron thickness, yielding a composite analysis of approximately 2mm in length, as seen in Figure 2-1. Cross sections were stained using hematoxylin and eosin to observe the general morphology of the arteries. Verhoeff's van Gieson staining was used to observe elastin composition of the arteries. Picro-sirius red staining was used to identify collagen composition and orientation in carotid sections, as previously described [88].



Figure 2-1: Method of Histomorphometric Analysis. Following perfusion, left common carotid arteries were excised at 0-, 7-, 14-, and 21-days post-surgery between the aortic arch and the carotid bifurcation. Arterial cross-sections are collected along 2mm length of the carotid artery, with the ligature as the initial marker for analysis.

Images were obtained using a Zeiss Axioscope equipped with a standard CCD camera (Nikon). Luminal, IEL, and EEL areas were measured by tracing along the surface using ImageJ software. Neointimal areas were calculated by taking the difference between the lumen and IEL areas. Medial areas were calculated by taking the difference between the EEL and IEL areas. Total vessel area is represented by the EEL area.

#### 2.2.5 Analysis

All results are reported as mean  $\pm$  SEM unless stated otherwise. Statistical analyses were performed using Microsoft Excel (Redmond, WA) and Graphpad Prism (Graphpad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). Differences between groups were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni's post hoc test. A probability (*P*) value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Blood Pressure

After one week of training the mice, pre-surgery systolic blood pressures were measured, and as expected, all basal blood pressures were similar. After blood pressures were recorded, mice underwent ligation of their left common carotid artery, as described in the Materials and Methods section. At the time of the surgery, Candesartan and Captopril osmotic pumps were implanted in select mice in accordance with their treatment category. Mice in the Amlodipine category were administered treatment through diet. The doses of Amlodipine (7.5 mg/kg/day), Candesartan (0.5 mg/kg/day), and Captopril (6 mg/kg/day) were selected to yield equivalent differences in blood pressure compared with the Control group, as seen in Table 1. Results are displayed as mean ± SD.

	Pre-surgery	7-days post-	14-days post-	21-days post-
		surgery	surgery	surgery
Control	104.2 ± 3.1	103.3 ± 3.5	104.6 ± 3.85	104.0 ± 4.6
	(n=25)	(n=25)	(n=16)	(n=6)
Amlodipine	102.7 ± 3.5	85.3 ± 2.7*	84.2 ± 3.4*	84.1 ± 1.8*
	(n=24)	(n=24)	(n=12)	(n=6)
Candesartan	102.1 ± 3.2	85.1 ± 2.5*	84.8 ± 2.4*	84.8 ± 3.4*
	(n=20)	(n=19)	(n=13)	(n=5)
Captopril	102.5 ± 3.2	84.3 ± 2.7*	85.2 ± 1.6*	85.4 ± 2.7*
	(n=18)	(n=18)	(n=12)	(n=6)

Table 2-1: Blood Pressures

\* *P* < 0.0001 vs. Control Pre-surgery

The Control group maintained their systolic blood pressures after surgery. Also, all three treatment groups had an equivalent drop in blood pressures, seen in all mice 7 days after surgery, at the later timepoints, similar reduction in blood pressure were observed. The approximate 15 mmHg drop in blood pressure was found to be statistically significant in all treatment groups compared with the Control group.

# 2.3.2 Characterization of Flow-Cessation model

Disruption of carotid artery blood flow resulted in early-on outward remodeling  $(1160.3 \pm 24.9 \ \mu\text{m}^2 \text{ compared to } 1107.5 \pm 11.2 \ \mu\text{m}^2 \text{ in sham mice})$ , followed by significant negative remodeling (949.8 ± 11.3 \ \mu\mathbf{m}^2) presumably due to permanent changes in shear stress, followed by compensatory vessel enlargement (1092 ± 20.3 \ \mu\mathbf{m}^2), as seen in Figure 2-2.



Figure 2-2: Comparison of EEL perimeters of left carotid artery at 0-, 7-, 14-, and 21days post-surgery. Panel A: Morphometric analysis of the circumference of blood vessels harvested at 0-, 7-, 14-, and 21-days post-surgery. Cross sectional perimeters of external elastic laminae were measured. Panel B: Temporal analysis of external elastic lamina perimeter of control mice upon ligation of left common carotid artery. Values are obtained from cross-sections collected 1mm (Segment 6) below the ligation. \*P < 0.05 versus sham values; all values are depicted as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

Figure 2-3 shows a spatial analysis of the typical remodeling response to cessation of blood flow over a time-course span of 7-, 14-, and 21-days post-surgery. The data shown are from 2mm below the left common carotid artery, starting at the ligature (Segment 1) and traversing towards the aortic arch (Segment 10). Outward remodeling is evident in the 7-day analysis due to significant concomitant increase in lumen and total vessel areas. Medial thickening was maximal at the early, 7-day timepoint (as previously observed in [87]), and was observed to a smaller degree in later timepoints following ligation of the carotid artery.



Figure 2-3: Spatial analysis of ligated carotid arteries at 7-, 14-, and 21-days postsurgery. Composite analysis spans 2mm in length down the carotid towards the aortic arch, beginning at the ligation. Cross sectional areas of lumen, neointima, media, and total vessel areas were measured.

Neointimal formation was greatest proximal to the ligature at the 21-day

timepoint, where collagen deposition by smooth muscle cells comprising the

subendothelial layer is evident, as visualized in Figure 2-4.



Figure 2-4: Collagen content is greatest proximal to the ligature in the 21-day timepoint. Representative Picro-Sirius stained left common carotid artery sections (8µm thickness) collected from Segments 1, 6, and 10 of sham, 7-day, 14-day, and 21-day experimental groups. Images were viewed under cross-polarized light to view birefringent collagen. In this setting, larger collagen fibers appear bright orange or red, whereas thin-filament collagen fibers appear bright green. Picrosirius staining primarily stains Types 1, 2, and 3 collagen.

# 2.3.3 Day 7 Analysis

The Captopril, Candesartan, and Amlodipine groups were associated with a significant reduction in medial thickening and neointimal formation upon ligation of their left common carotid arteries compared with the Control group, as seen in Figure 2-5A and 2-5B. In all groups, neointimal formation was greatest proximal to the ligature, and was unvarying from segments 6-10 (1-2mm below the ligation). The difference in neointimal areas among the treated groups and the Control group was found to be statistically significant in cross-sections collected within 100 $\mu$ m to the ligature (P < 0.001). Also, medial areas were consistently smaller proximal to the ligature and fairly consistent among the distally collected sections. Medial areas for the Control,  $30\pm 2\times 10^3$  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> at 1mm below the ligation, were roughly 35% greater compared with all three treatment groups,  $19\pm1\times10^3$  µm<sup>2</sup> (P < 0.001). In addition to the media, total vessel area was also significantly greater in the Control than among the treatment groups. Based on the observation that the Amlodipine, Captopril, and Candesartan data were fairly analogous, we believe that the humoral aspects of ACE inhibition or angiotensin receptor blockade do not play a significant role in these aspects of vascular remodeling at the early 7-day timepoint. Instead, the pressor effect among all treatment groups appears to be the more dominant factor at this stage of remodeling.



Figure 2-5: 7-Day Morphometric Analysis. Panel A: Representative cross sections of the ligated left common carotid arteries in the Control, Amlodipine, Candesartan, and Captopril groups at varying distances from area of ligation. Ligated arteries were excised after pressure perfusion fixation at 100mm Hg, immersed in 4% paraformaldehyde for an additional 24 hours, then dehydrated and embedded in paraffin. Sections of 8µm were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Magnification ×20; Scale bar = 100µm. Panel B: Morphometric analysis of ligated carotid arteries. Cross sectional areas of lumen, neointima, media, and EEL were measured.

# 2.3.4 Day 14 Analysis

Whereas the earlier, 7-day timepoint was the response to acute flow-cessation where blood pressure treatment led to an attenuation of neointimal proliferation and medial thickening, the 14-day timepoint data did not exhibit significant differences between the Control and treatment groups. Candesartan treatment appeared to attenuate the degree of negative remodeling observed in the Control group between the 7- and 14-day timepoints, as seen in the lumen and total vessel areas in Figure 2-6. However, this difference was found to be insignificant (P > 0.05). In contrast, the Captopril also did not result in any significant differences in remodeling, although the attenuation was not observed in this timepoint. The only groups exhibiting difference were the lumen and total vessel areas among the Candesartan and Captopril groups (Segments 3-10, P < 0.05). The 14-day medial areas among all groups were found to be unvarying. The Control and Amlodipine groups were equivalent in terms of lumen (25646 ± 1482 µm vs. 28760 ± 2143 µm) and EEL areas (48615 ± 1871 µm vs. 46102 ± 2156 µm).



Figure 2-6: 14-Day Morphometric Analysis. Panel A: Representative cross sections of the ligated left common carotid arteries in the Control, Amlodipine, Candesartan, and Captopril groups at varying distances from area of ligation. Magnification ×20; Scale bar = 100µm. Panel B: Morphometric analysis of ligated carotid arteries. Cross sectional areas of lumen, neointima, media, and EEL were measured.

# 2.3.5 Day 21 Analysis

In this late-stage timepoint, we observed that the neointimal growth was most profound in the Control group. The Control group exhibited consistent values for medial and total vessel areas, yet had smaller lumen areas than the treatment groups, due to the increase in neointimal proliferation. This dramatic change in neointima from the 7and 14-day to the steady-state timepoint has been previously published by Ivan and colleagues [89]. Also, an interesting new finding was made, which was the pronounced difference in total vessel areas between the 14-day and 21-day Captopril data (36213 ± 1833µm vs. 65770 ± 3406µm). By the 21-day timepoint, the Captopril underwent significant outward remodeling, thereby mimicking vessel characteristics of the Candesartan (59756 ± 3084µm) and Amlodipine (57077 ± 4361µm) groups, as seen in Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7: 21-Day Morphometric Analysis. Panel A: Representative cross sections of the ligated left common carotid arteries in the Control, Amlodipine, Candesartan, and Captopril groups at varying distances from area of ligation. Magnification ×20; Scale bar =  $100\mu m$ . Panel B: Morphometric analysis of ligated carotid arteries. Cross sectional areas of lumen, neointima, media, and EEL were measured.

# 2.3.6 Time Point Analysis

Upon consolidating the 7-, 14-, and 21-day morphometric analyses, we see the characteristic remodeling patterns of each experimental group. As stated earlier during the characterization of the injury model, flow cessation induces an increase in medial thickening, progressive increase in neointimal formation, and reduction in vessel size in the Control group. Treatment with Candesartan, Captopril, and Amlodipine yielded similar remodeling patterns, including significant reduction in neointimal formation and attenuation of medial thickening and constrictive remodeling upon reaching the late, 21-day timepoint. Here, we observe the predominant effect of blood pressure regulation on vascular remodeling, particularly among the 7- and 21-day timepoints.



Figure 2-8: Time Point Analysis of Morphometry between Control, Amlodipine, Candesartan, and Captopril groups at 7-, 14-, and 21-day timepoints. Cross sectional areas of neointima, media, and EEL are depicted as a function of time.

#### 2.4 Discussion

Pathological remodeling is one of the primary events that occur in the progression of hypertension and atherosclerosis. Several small animal models have been utilized in order to gain insight into the multitude of factors influencing vascular remodeling [74, 90, 91]. In this study, we sought to determine the predominant role of Ang II in carotid artery remodeling in an acute injury setting, be it humoral or mechanical, and whether this effect is consistently observed over the time course of early- to late-stage remodeling.

Our data strongly supports the preeminent influence of mechanical factors induced by Ang II in long-term vessel remodeling based in a vascular injury setting. Hemodynamic factors, such as blood pressure and wall shear stress have long been known to play a role in adaptive remodeling [82, 92, 93]. The early (7-day) and late-stage (21-day) timepoints both reinforce this belief upon observation of significantly decreased neointimal formation, medial thickening, and preservation of lumen area among all mice that underwent treatment involving lowered blood pressure, despite differences in mode of action (ACE inhibition, angiotensin receptor blockade, or calcium-channel blockade). Previous researchers have demonstrated that transmural pressure stimulates vascular RAS, particularly via endogenous production of Ang II [92, 94]. Therefore, by modulating transmural pressure using ACE inhibitors or calcium-channel blockers, or blocking the effects by AT<sub>1</sub> receptor antagonism, similar outcomes ensue. Because the method of blood pressure regulation appears trivial, it is probable that Ang II does not under these experimental conditions play a significant role in the remodeling process.

In contrast to the 7- and 21-day timepoints, the 14-day timepoint demonstrates insignificant differences compared to the treatment groups. Additionally, characteristic differences emerged between the effects of ACE inhibition and angiotensin receptor

blockade on the structural adaptation of injured vessels among these two experimental groups. Upon comparison of the 7- and 14-day Control results, we observe a transition in the adaptive vessel response to near-stasis conditions, including negative remodeling and neointimal formation. This emphasizes the existence of a hierarchy of factors influencing the response to injury. Because the proliferative index of smooth muscle cells is maximal between the 7- and 14-day timepoints [87], focus is shifted to the influence of Captopril versus Candesartan. In this timepoint, we observe what may be interpreted as the humoral effects of Candesartan and Captopril treatments. Captopril treated mice have been known to manifest low circulating Ang II levels, as well as an increase in circulating BK half-life, due to inhibition of ACE. On the other hand, the Candesartan mice exhibit extraordinarily high levels of circulating Ang II levels due to  $AT_1R$  blockade, as well as normal ACE activity. Additionally,  $AT_2R$  expression has been upregulated due to the inflammatory setting induced by the ligation of the left common carotid arteries [56, 95, 96]. Studies involving the  $AT_2R^{-/-}$  knockout mice have expanded our knowledge on the antagonistic effects this receptor exhibits alongside the  $AT_1R$ .  $AT_2R^{-1}$  mice show hypersensitivity to Ang II [97] and have two-fold increase in neointimal formation than AT<sub>2</sub>R<sup>+/+</sup> mice [98], thus emphasizing its vasoprotective, anti-proliferative influence on the vascular wall. Furthermore, Ang II binding to  $AT_2R$  is attributed to vasodilation due to increased production of NO [64, 99].

We assumed that Amlodipine was used as a low blood pressure control because its effects are largely pressor-related. Recent lines of evidence point to a vasoprotective role of Amlodipine through its antioxidant effects [100]. The mechanisms of action are different, however, in the attenuation of oxidative stress. Amlodipine, belonging to the dihydropyridine class of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blockers, are found to preserve SOD activity, whereas ACE-Is and ARBs are known to limit Ang II-induced NAD(P)H oxidase stimulation [101, 102]. Therefore, although the calcium-channel blocker treatment was

used as a low blood pressure control, additional antioxidant effects may influence the remodeling process as a result of Amlodipine treatment.

The rapid outward remodeling response observed in Captopril mice between the 14- and 21-day timepoints delineates a particularly interesting observation. Previous studies investigating the effects of ACE inhibition have demonstrated increases in BK leading to activation of the BK B<sub>2</sub> receptor [79, 99, 103], thereby promoting vasodilation. Binding of BK to its B<sub>2</sub> receptor in the endothelium results in an increase in intracellular calcium, leading to eNOS upregulation and subsequent enhanced NO production [78, 80, 103-105].

Based on these findings, we postulate that these phenotypic differences involving differences in AT<sub>2</sub>R expression and bradykinin production promote the differences in structural adaptation. The simplest explanation for this unique set of data is that the14-day timepoint is rather an intermediate phase where a "homeostasis" has yet to occur between the various processes of cellular growth, death, migration, and production and degradation of the extracellular matrix. It may be a timepoint where the kinetics underlying the different cellular processes are transitional, thereby allowing the humoral influences of Ang II to become more evident.

The beneficial effects of ACE inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade on neointimal formation have been reported in several studies involving the balloon angioplasty model of vascular injury in rats [37, 44, 77, 106-110], presumably by inhibiting the mitogenic, hypertrophic, and proinflammatory effects of Ang II. The results of these studies strongly support the humoral aspects of ACE inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade. Blood pressure control in this setting was demonstrated to only play a minimal role in the attenuation of neointimal proliferation [109]. Because these results are contradictory to the results of our current study, it is important to note the differences in injury settings between these two models. Firstly, with balloon angioplasty, the

resulting arterial injury involves complete endothelial denudation, as well as compression injury to the media [111]. Consequentially, elastic recoil is observed, followed by smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation. There are greater platelet interactions and inflammatory response within the vessel wall observed as a consequence to angioplasty. As a result, the balloon angioplasty injury appears better suited as a model for studying neointimal formation rather than vascular remodeling.

In contrast, the flow-cessation model of vascular injury does not cause endothelial denudation except for the immediate area of ligation. Because the endothelium is largely intact in our model, it allows us to more accurately observe the function of vasoactive molecules secreted from or pharmacologic treatments targeted to the endothelium. It is important to note that although this current study has yielded conclusive results, it was carried out in a very controlled setting. Ligation of the carotid artery does not lead to an ischemic environment due to compensatory flow via the contralateral artery, thereby preventing tonic increases in hypoxia-induced factors. Also, because this study was carried out in a murine setting, alternative Ang II generating pathways are relatively minimal, compared to larger animal models or humans [112].

A survey of literature demonstrates clear differences in lesion development between animal models, presumably due to divergent cellular mechanisms underlying the remodeling process. Even within the murine model, strain differences are known to cause considerable differences in response to vascular injury. Studies comparing several strains of mice have shown significant differences in neointimal formation, degree of inflammatory response, medial area, and vessel diameter characteristics [113-115]. To circumvent these potential sources of variability, we only used mice that were from the same genetic background, C57BI/6J, instead of using mice from a mixed background.

In summary, modulation of RAS through ACE inhibition or angiotensin receptor blockade did not yield vasoprotective benefits beyond those observed using a calciumchannel blocker. The results of this study convey the influence of hemodynamic factors governing the vessel wall as the predominant regulator of pathological remodeling.

## 2.5 Conclusion

A hierarchy exists among the factors influencing remodeling of the arterial wall. Upon completion of this project, we believe that the pressor effects of Ang II are the most paramount stimuli for long term vessel remodeling in a pure vascular injury setting. Under normal circumstances, flow cessation yields inward remodeling in addition to neointimal formation. Treatment with ACE inhibitor (Captopril), angiotensin receptor blocker (Candesartan), and calcium-channel blocker (Amlodipine) exhibited similar longterm remodeling characteristics in these experimental settings.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

#### **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

#### 3.1 Introduction

Bradykinin, the key effector molecule of the kallikrein-kinin system, has been shown to exert vasodilative effects on the cardiovascular system. The biological functions of BK are dependent upon binding to its constitutive BK B<sub>2</sub> receptor, which is documented to have antiproliferative, antithrombotic, and antioxidant effects [116]. Additionally, at the sites of vascular injury and inflammation, BK B<sub>1</sub> receptor expression is known to become upregulated. The effects of this receptor are not clearly understood although recent evidence in the rat model implicates its role in inflammation and vasoconstriction [117]. Expression of these receptors in the vascular endothelium as well as smooth muscle has previously been published.

Upon completion of our current study, we believe that the differences in remodeling patterns observed among the 14-day treatment groups were partly influenced by increased BK receptor activation due to increased circulating BK levels. Inhibition of ACE has been shown to significantly increase the circulating half-life of BK. Although several lines of evidence suggest that the vasoprotective effects of ACE inhibition are due to the decreased production of Ang II rather than increased bradykinin levels, recent reports have shown that BK upon binding to the BK B<sub>2</sub> receptor leads to an increase in NO bioavailability, due to an upregulation of eNOS [103]. The involvement of BK in the attenuation of oxidative stress has not been fully elucidated.

Recent reports have indicated that angiotensin receptor blockade results in an indirect activation of BK B<sub>2</sub> receptors, due to stimulation of AT<sub>2</sub> receptors, causing an increase in NO bioavailability [118]. Although the activation of the BKB<sub>2</sub> receptor is

evident in both settings of ACE inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade, the mechanisms underlying the receptor activation are different. Therefore, a potential future direction could involve the investigation of the kinetics of bradykinin receptor activation or possible differential expression of the BK B<sub>1</sub> and BK B<sub>2</sub> receptors causing the constitutive remodeling response. Quantifying the activation of the BK B<sub>1</sub> and BK B<sub>1</sub> and BK B<sub>2</sub> receptors under these conditions will allow insight into the function of bradykinin and its receptors in physiologic and pathophysiologic vascular remodeling.

# 3.2 Potential future studies

#### 3.2.1 Confirming BK receptor presence in remodeling carotid artery

Preliminary evaluation may include immunohistochemistry staining for the BK  $B_1$ and  $B_2$  receptors using the 14-day collected carotid sections from the current study. If the results are found to be similar between the treatment groups, then BK may not be responsible for the observed morphometric variability. However, if BK is responsible for the differences, then we expect to see either differences in the intensity of the stain or possibly differential staining of the BK receptors between treatment groups, thus indicating possible differences in downstream effects of BK.

# 3.2.2 Evaluation of BK involvement in the differential effects of ACE inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade

If the results from the preliminary study implicate a difference in levels of BK activity, the next step may involve the use of BK receptor antagonists to observe possible attenuation of the divergent morphological phenotypes between the treatment groups. The experimental design will be similar to that of the current study, and the same flow-cessation vascular injury model will be utilized. The main difference would be the additional treatment of BK receptor antagonists in addition to the ACE-I, ARB, or calcium-channel blocker. Also, the 14-day timepoint appears optimal to conduct this

study since most variability among the treatment groups was observed in this phase of remodeling.

# 3.2.3 Defining the role of BK receptors in vascular remodeling

In this study, we wish to elucidate the unique roles of the BK receptors in vascular remodeling. To achieve this, we will treat mice with an ACE inhibitor to cause an increase in circulating BK levels. Further treatment with selective BK  $B_1$  or  $B_2$  antagonists should allow us to evaluate the roles of these receptors in remodeling following ligation of their left common carotid arteries.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Wilensky, R.L., *Angiotensin-receptor blockers: revival of the systemic prevention of restenosis?* Cardiovasc Drugs Ther, 2003. **17**(1): p. 63-73.
- Fox, K.M., et al., *The European trial on reduction of cardiac events with perindopril in stable coronary artery disease (EUROPA)*. Eur Heart J, 1998. 19(5): p. J52-5.
- 3. Yusuf, S., et al., *Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **342**(3): p. 145-53.
- 4. Pfeffer, M.A., et al., *Prevention of events with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition (the PEACE study design). Prevention of Events with Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition.* Am J Cardiol, 1998. **82**(3A): p. 25H-30H.
- Pfeffer, M.A., et al., *The continuation of the Prevention of Events With Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibition (PEACE) Trial.* Am Heart J, 2001. 142(3): p. 375-7.
- 6. Braunwald, E., et al., *Angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibition in stable coronary artery disease*. N Engl J Med, 2004. **351**(20): p. 2058-68. Epub 2004 Nov 7.
- 7. Narayanaswamy, M., K.C. Wright, and K. Kandarpa, *Animal models for atherosclerosis, restenosis, and endovascular graft research.* J Vasc Interv Radiol, 2000. **11**(1): p. 5-17.
- 8. Shi, Y., et al., *Downregulation of c-myc expression by antisense oligonucleotides inhibits proliferation of human smooth muscle cells*. Circulation, 1993. **88**(3): p. 1190-5.
- 9. Stebhens, W., *Misperception of adaptation and remodeling in vascular pathology*. Cardiovascular Pathology, 2001. **10**: p. 305-310.
- 10. Montzori C, S.P., Zulliger M, Stergiopulos N, *Functional, mechanical and geometrical adaptation of the arterial wall of a non-axisymmetric artery in vitro.* J Hypertens, 2004. **22**: p. 339-347.
- Gibbons, G., *The Emerging Concept of Vascular Remodeling*. NEJM, 1994.
  330(20): p. 1431-1438.
- Wentzel JJ, G.F., Stergiopulos N, Serruys PW, Slager CJ, Krams R, *Shear stress, vascular remodeling and neointimal formation*. Journal of Biomechanics, 2003.
  36: p. 681-8.

- 13. Zarins CK, G.D., Bharadvaj BK, Sottiurai VS, Mabon RF, Glagov S, *Carotid bifurcation atherosclerosis. Quantitative correlation of plaque localization with flow velocity profiles and wall shear stress.* Circ Res, 1983. **53**(4): p. 502-514.
- 14. Gnasso A, I.C., Carallo C, De Franceschi MS, Motti C, Mattioli PL, Pujia A, *In vivo association between low wall shear stress and plaque in subjects with asymmetrical carotid atherosclerosis.* Stroke, 1997. **28**(5): p. 993-998.
- 15. Shaaban AM, D.A., *Wall shear stress and early atherosclerosis: a review.* AJR Americal Journal of Roentgenol, 2000. **174**(6): p. 1657-1665.
- 16. Bevan JA, B.R., Chang PC, Pegram BL, Purdy RE, Su C, *Analysis of changed in reactivity of rabbit arteries and veins two weeks after induction of hypertension by coarctation of the abdominal aorta*. Circ Res, 1975. **37**(2): p. 182-190.
- Rachev A, S.N., Meister JJ, *Theoretical study of dynamics of arterial wall* remodeling in response to changes in blood pressure. Journal of Biomechanics, 1996. 29(5): p. 635-642.
- 18. Dzau VJ, S.H., Hein L, *Heterogeneity of angiotensin synthetic pathways and receptor subtypes: physiological and pharmacological implications.* J Hypertens, 1993. **11(suppl)**: p. S13-18.
- 19. Timmermans PB, W.P., Chiu AT, et al., *Angiotensin II receptors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists*. Pharmacol Rev, 1993. **45**: p. 205-251.
- Carey RM, H.S., Newly recognized components of the renin-angiotensin system: Potential roles in cardiovascular and renal regulation. Endocrine Reviews, 2003.
   24: p. 261-271.
- 21. Okamura A, H.R., M Ohishi, Y Yanagitani, S Takiuchi, K Moriguchi, PA Fennessy, J Higaki, T Ogihara, *Upregulation of renin-angiotensin system during differentiation of monocytes to macrophages*. J Hypertens, 1999. **17**: p. 537-545.
- 22. Rakugi, H., et al., *Induction of angiotensin converting enzyme in the neointima after vascular injury. Possible role in restenosis.* J Clin Invest, 1994. **93**(1): p. 339-46.
- 23. Fukuda, N., et al., *Production of angiotensin II by homogeneous cultures of* vascular smooth muscle cells from spontaneously hypertensive rats. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1999. **19**(5): p. 1210-7.
- 24. Hilgers KF, V.R., Muller DN, Kohler H, Hartner A, Botkin S, Stumpf C, Schmieder RE, Gomez RA, *Renin uptake by the endothelium mediates vascular angiotensin formation*. Hypertension, 2001. **38**: p. 243-248.
- 25. Dzau VJ, B.K., Celermajer D, Cohen J, Dahlof B, Deanfield J, Diez J, Drexler H, Ferrari R, Van Gilst W, Hansson L, Hornig B, Husain A, Johnston C, Lazar H,

Lohn W, Luscher T, Mancini J, Mimran A, Pepine C, Rabelink T, Remme W, Ruilope L, Ruzicka M, Schunkert H, Swedberg K, Unger T, Vaughan D, Weber M, *Pathophysiologic and therapeutic importance of tissue ACE: a consensus report*. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther, 2002. **2**: p. 149-60.

- 26. Xiao HD, F.S., Campbell DJ, Lewis W, Dudley SC, Kasi VS, Hoit BD, Keshelava G, Zhao H, Capecchi MR, Bernstein KE, *Mice with Cardiac-Restricted Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (ACE) Have Atrial Enlargement, Cardiac Arrythmia, and Sudden Death.* Am J Pathol, 2004. **165**: p. 1019-1032.
- 27. Bernstein KE, X.H., Frenzel K, Li P, Shen XZ, Adams JW, Fuchs S, Six Truisms Concerning ACE and the Renin-Angiotensin System Educed From the Genetic Analysis of Mice. Circ Res, 2005. **96**: p. 1135-1144.
- Xiao HD, F.S., Frenzel K, Teng L, Li P, Shen XZ, Adams J, Zhao H, Keshelava GT, Bernstein KE, Cole JM, *The use of knockout mouse technology to achieve tissue selective expression of angiotensin converting enzyme*. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology, 2004. 36: p. 781-789.
- 29. Weber KT, Y.S., *Recruitable ACE and tissue repair in the infarcted heart.* J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst, 2000. 1(4): p. 295-303.
- 30. Cole JM, X.H., Adams JW, Disher KM, Zhao H, Bernstein KE, *New approaches to genetic manipulation of mice: tissue-specific expression of ACE*. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 2003. **284**: p. F599-F607.
- 31. Kim S, H.I., *Molecular and Cellular Mechanisms of Angiotensin II-Mediated Cardiovascular and Renal Diseases.* Pharmacol Rev, 2000. **52**(1): p. 11-34.
- 32. Weir MR, V.D., *The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system: a specific target for hypertension management.* Am J Hypertens, 1999. **12**: p. 205S-213S.
- 33. Scholkens BA, L., *ACE inhibition and atherogenesis*. Can J Physiol Pharmacol, 2002. **80**: p. 354-359.
- Griendling KK, M.C., Ollerenshaw JD, Alexander RW, Angiotensin II stimulates NADH and NADPH oxidase activity in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res, 1994. 74(6): p. 1141-8.
- 35. Cai H, G.K., Harrison DG, *The vascular NADPH oxidases as therapeutic targets in cardiovascular diseases*. TRENDS in Pharmacological Sciences, 2003. **24**: p. 471-478.
- Rajagopalan S, K.S., Munzel T, Tarpey M, Freeman BA, Griendling KK, Harrison DG, Angiotensin II mediated hypertension inthe rat increases vascular superoxide production via membrane NADH/NADPH oxidase activation: contribution to alterations of vasomotor tone. J Clin Invest, 1996. 97: p. 1916-1923.

- 37. Kim S, O.K., Hamaguchi A, Omura T, Tominaga K, Yukimura T, Miura K, Tanaka M, Iwao H, *AT1 receptor-mediated stimulation by angiotensin II of rat aortic fibronectin gene expression in vivo*. Br J Pharmacol, 1994. **113**: p. 662-663.
- 38. Daemen MJ, L.D., Bosman FT, Schwartz SM, *Angiotensin II induces smooth muscle cell proliferation in the normal and injured rat arterial wall.* Circ Res, 1991. **68**(450-456).
- 39. Su EJ, L.D., Wiener J, Daemen MJ, Reidy MA, Schwartz SM, *Mitogenic effect of* angiotensin II on rat carotid arteries and type II or III mesenteric microvessels but not type I mesenteric microvessels is mediated by endogenous basic fibroblast growth factor. Circ Res, 1998. **82**: p. 321-327.
- 40. Saward L, P.Z., Angiotensin II activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res, 1997. **81**: p. 249-257.
- 41. Tamura K, N.N., Tamura N, Fujita T, Kihara M, Toya Y, Takasaki I, Takagi N, Ishii M, Oda K, Horiuchi M, Umemura S, *Mechanism of angiotensin II-mediated regulation of fibronectin gene in rat vascular smooth muscle cells*. J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**: p. 26487-26496.
- 42. Feener EP, N.J., Aiello LP, King GL, Angiotensin II induces plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and -2 expression in vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells. J Clin Invest, 1995. **95**: p. 1353-1362.
- 43. Fujita, N., et al., *Failure of cdc2 promoter activation and G(2)/M transition by ANG II and AVP in vascular smooth muscle cells*. Am J Physiol, 1999. **277**(2 Pt 2): p. H515-23.
- 44. Berridge, M.J. and G. Dupont, *Spatial and temporal signalling by calcium*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 1994. **6**(2): p. 267-74.
- 45. Takeuchi, K., et al., *Angiotensin II can regulate gene expression by the AP-1 binding sequence via a protein kinase C-dependent pathway.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1990. **172**(3): p. 1189-94.
- 46. Schelling, P., H. Fischer, and D. Ganten, *Angiotensin and cell growth: a link to cardiovascular hypertrophy?* J Hypertens, 1991. **9**(1): p. 3-15.
- 47. Kubo, A., et al., *Angiotensin II regulates the cell cycle of vascular smooth muscle cells from SHR*. Am J Hypertens, 2000. **13**(10): p. 1117-24.
- 48. Hamada, M., et al., Enhanced DNA synthesis of cultured vascular smooth muscle cells from spontaneously hypertensive rats. Difference of response to growth factor, intracellular free calcium concentration and DNA synthesizing cell cycle. Atherosclerosis, 1990. **81**(3): p. 191-8.

- 49. Hadrava, V., et al., *Accelerated entry of aortic smooth muscle cells from spontaneously hypertensive rats into the S phase of the cell cycle.* Biochem Cell Biol, 1992. **70**(7): p. 599-604.
- 50. Sung, C.P., et al., Angiotensin type 1 receptors mediate smooth muscle proliferation and endothelin biosynthesis in rat vascular smooth muscle. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 1994. **271**(1): p. 429-37.
- 51. Touyz, R.M. and E.L. Schiffrin, *Angiotensin II regulates vascular smooth muscle cell pH, contraction, and growth via tyrosine kinase-dependent signaling pathways.* Hypertension, 1997. **30**(2 Pt 1): p. 222-9.
- 52. Geisterfer AAT, P.M., Owens GK, Angiotensin II induces hypertrophy, not hyperplasia, of cultured rat aortic smooth muscle cells. Circ Res, 1988. **62**: p. 749-756.
- 53. Rao, G.N., *Differential regulation of p27kip1 levels and CDK activities by hypertrophic and hyperplastic agents in vascular smooth muscle cells.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 1999. **1448**(3): p. 525-32.
- 54. Newby, A.C. and S.J. George, *Proposed roles for growth factors in mediating smooth muscle proliferation in vascular pathologies*. Cardiovasc Res, 1993.
  27(7): p. 1173-83.
- 55. Henrion D, K.N., Levy B, *Physiological and pathophysiological functions of the AT2 Subtype Receptor of Angiotensin II, from large arteries to the microcirculation.* Hypertension, 2001. **38**: p. 1150-1157.
- Horiuchi M, H.W., Akishita M, Tamura K, Daviet L, Lehtonen JY, Dzau VJ, Stimulation of different subtypes of angiotensin II receptors, AT1 and AT2 receptors, regulates STAT activation by negative crosstalk. Circ Res, 1999. 84(876-882).
- 57. Murphy TJ, A.R., Griendling KK, Runge MS, Bernstein KE, *Isolation of a cDNA encoding the vascular type-1 angiotensin receptor*. Nature, 1991. **351**: p. 233-236.
- 58. Sasaki K, Y.Y., Bardhan S, Iwai N, Murray JJ, Hasegawa M, Matsuda Y, Inagami T, *Cloning and expression of a complementary DNA encoding a bovine adrenal angiotensin II type-1 receptor*. Nature, 1991. **351**: p. 230-233.
- 59. Miura A, K.S., *Ligand-independent signals from angiotensin II type 2 receptor induce apoptosis.* The EMBO Journal, 2000. **19**(15): p. 4026-4035.
- 60. Inagami, T., *Molecular biology and signaling of angiotensin receptors: an overview*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 1999. **10(Suppl 11)**: p. S2-S7.
- 61. Matsubara, H., *Pathophysiological role of angiotensin II type 2 receptor in cardiovascular and renal diseases*. Circ Res, 1998. **83**: p. 1182-1191.

- 62. Nakajima M, H.H., Fujinaga M, Hayashida W, Morishita R, Zhang L, Horiuchi M, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ, *The angiotensin II type 2 (AT2) receptor antagonizes the growth effects of the AT1 receptor: gain of function study using in vivo gene transfer*. Proc Nath Acad Sci USA, 1995. **92**: p. 10663-10667.
- 63. le Tran, F.C., *Effect of angiotensin receptor blockade in the rabbit aorta: influence of the endothelium.* Can J Physiol Pharmacol, 1996. **74**: p. 1277-1286.
- 64. Gohlke P, P.C., Unger T, *AT2 receptor stimulation invreases aortic cyclic GMP in SHRSP by a kinin-dependent mechanism.* Hypertension, 1998. **31**: p. 349-355.
- 65. Tsutsumi Y, M.H., Masaki H, Kurihara H, Murasawa S, Takai S, Miyazaki M, Nozawa Y, Ozono R, Nakagawa K, Miwa T, Kawada N, Mori Y, Shibasaki Y, Tanaka Y, Fujiyama S, Koyama Y, Fijuyama A, Takahashi H, Iwasaka T, *Angiotensin II type 2 receptor overexpression activates the vascular kinin system and causes vasodilation.* J Clin Invest, 1999. **104**: p. 925-935.
- 66. Hunley TE, T.M., Stoneking BJ, Nishimura H, Ichiki T, Inagami T, Kon V, *The angiotensin type II receptor tonically inhibits angiotensin-converting enzyme in AT2 null mutant mice.* Kidney Int, 2000. **57**(570-577).
- 67. Schenck EA, G.E., Feigenbaum AD, *Spontaneous aortic lesions in rabbits*. Circ Res, 1966. **19**: p. 80-88.
- 68. Watanabe, Y., *Serial inbreeding of rabbits with hereditary hyperlipidemia (WHHL rabbit)*. Atherosclerosis, 1980. **36**: p. 261-268.
- 69. Jackson, C., *Animal models of restenosis*. Trends Cardiovasc Med, 1994. **4**: p. 122-130.
- 70. Carmeliet P. M.L. Herbert JM, e.a., *Urokinase but not tissue plasminogen activator mediates arterial neointima formation in mice*. Circ Res, 1997. **81**: p. 829-839.
- 71. Lindner V, F.J., Reidy MA, *Mouse model of arterial injury*. Circ Res, 1993. **73**: p. 792-796.
- 72. Tanaka, K., et al., *Diverse contribution of bone marrow cells to neointimal hyperplasia after mechanical vascular injuries.* Circ Res, 2003. **93**(8): p. 783-90. Epub 2003 Sep 18.
- 73. Carmeliet, P., et al., *Vascular wound healing and neointima formation induced by perivascular electric injury in mice*. Am J Pathol, 1997. **150**(2): p. 761-76.
- 74. Kumar A, H.J., Simmons CA, Lindner V, Shebuski RJ, *Remodeling and Neointimal Formation in the carotid artery of normal and P-selectin-deficient mice*. Circulation, 1997. **96**: p. 4333-4342.

- 75. Godin, D., et al., *Remodeling of carotid artery is associated with increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases in mouse blood flow cessation model.* Circulation, 2000. **102**(23): p. 2861-6.
- 76. Langille, B.L. and F. O'Donnell, *Reductions in arterial diameter produced by chronic decreases in blood flow are endothelium-dependent*. Science, 1986.
  231(4736): p. 405-7.
- Powell, J.S., et al., *Inhibitors of angiotensin-converting enzyme prevent myointimal proliferation after vascular injury*. Science, 1989. 245(4914): p. 186-8.
- 78. Emanueli, C., et al., *Participation of kinins in the captopril-induced inhibition of intimal hyperplasia caused by interruption of carotid blood flow in the mouse.* Br J Pharmacol, 2000. **130**(5): p. 1076-82.
- 79. Blais, C., Jr., et al., *The kallikrein-kininogen-kinin system: lessons from the quantification of endogenous kinins.* Peptides, 2000. **21**(12): p. 1903-40.
- 80. McIntyre, T.M., et al., *Cultured endothelial cells synthesize both plateletactivating factor and prostacyclin in response to histamine, bradykinin, and adenosine triphosphate.* J Clin Invest, 1985. **76**(1): p. 271-80.
- 81. Derian, C.K. and M.A. Moskowitz, *Polyphosphoinositide hydrolysis in* endothelial cells and carotid artery segments. Bradykinin-2 receptor stimulation is calcium-independent. J Biol Chem, 1986. **261**(8): p. 3831-7.
- 82. Hilgers, R.H., et al., *Tissue angiotensin-converting enzyme in imposed and physiological flow-related arterial remodeling in mice*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2004. **24**(5): p. 892-7. Epub 2004 Mar 18.
- 83. Hornig, B., et al., Comparative effect of ace inhibition and angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonism on bioavailability of nitric oxide in patients with coronary artery disease: role of superoxide dismutase. Circulation, 2001. **103**(6): p. 799-805.
- Kinugawa, S., et al., Coronary microvascular endothelial stunning after acute pressure overload in the conscious dog is caused by oxidant processes: the role of angiotensin II type 1 receptor and NAD(P)H oxidase. Circulation, 2003. 108(23): p. 2934-40. Epub 2003 Dec 1.
- 85. Widdop, R.E., et al., *AT2 receptor-mediated relaxation is preserved after longterm AT1 receptor blockade*. Hypertension, 2002. **40**(4): p. 516-20.
- 86. Levy, B.I., *How to explain the differences between renin angiotensin system modulators*. Am J Hypertens, 2005. **18**(9 Pt 2): p. 134S-141S.

- Kumar, A. and V. Lindner, *Remodeling with neointima formation in the mouse carotid artery after cessation of blood flow.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1997. 17(10): p. 2238-44.
- 88. Junqueira, L.C., G. Bignolas, and R.R. Brentani, *Picrosirius staining plus polarization microscopy, a specific method for collagen detection in tissue sections.* Histochem J, 1979. **11**(4): p. 447-55.
- 89. Ivan, E., et al., *Expansive arterial remodeling is associated with increased neointimal macrophage foam cell content: the murine model of macrophage-rich carotid artery lesions*. Circulation, 2002. **105**(22): p. 2686-91.
- 90. Clowes, A.W., M.A. Reidy, and M.M. Clowes, *Kinetics of cellular proliferation after arterial injury. I. Smooth muscle growth in the absence of endothelium.* Lab Invest, 1983. **49**(3): p. 327-33.
- 91. Korshunov, V.A. and B.C. Berk, *Flow-induced vascular remodeling in the mouse: a model for carotid intima-media thickening*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2003. **23**(12): p. 2185-91. Epub 2003 Oct 23.
- 92. Bardy, N., et al., *Pressure and angiotensin II synergistically induce aortic fibronectin expression in organ culture model of rabbit aorta. Evidence for a pressure-induced tissue renin-angiotensin system.* Circ Res, 1996. **79**(1): p. 70-8.
- 93. Pourageaud, F. and J.G. De Mey, *Structural properties of rat mesenteric small arteries after 4-wk exposure to elevated or reduced blood flow.* Am J Physiol, 1997. **273**(4 Pt 2): p. H1699-706.
- 94. Himeno, H., et al., *Angiotensin II alters aortic fibronectin independently of hypertension*. Hypertension, 1994. **23**(6 Pt 2): p. 823-6.
- 95. Horiuchi, M., et al., *The growth-dependent expression of angiotensin II type 2* receptor is regulated by transcription factors interferon regulatory factor-1 and -2. J Biol Chem, 1995. **270**(34): p. 20225-30.
- 96. Horiuchi, M., et al., *Interferon regulatory factor-1 up-regulates angiotensin II type 2 receptor and induces apoptosis.* J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(18): p. 11952-8.
- 97. Hein, L., et al., *Behavioural and cardiovascular effects of disrupting the angiotensin II type-2 receptor in mice*. Nature, 1995. **377**(6551): p. 744-7.
- 98. Akishita, M., et al., *Inflammation influences vascular remodeling through AT2 receptor expression and signaling*. Physiol Genomics, 2000. **2**(1): p. 13-20.
- 99. Bergaya, S., et al., *Decreased flow-dependent dilation in carotid arteries of tissue kallikrein-knockout mice*. Circ Res, 2001. **88**(6): p. 593-9.

- 100. Ganafa, A.A., et al., *Amlodipine attenuates oxidative stress-induced hypertension*. Am J Hypertens, 2004. **17**(9): p. 743-8.
- 101. Zhou, M.S., E.A. Jaimes, and L. Raij, *Inhibition of oxidative stress and improvement of endothelial function by amlodipine in angiotensin II-infused rats.* Am J Hypertens, 2004. **17**(2): p. 167-71.
- 102. Rosenkranz, A.C., et al., *Endothelial antioxidant actions of dihydropyridines and angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors*. Eur J Pharmacol, 2005. **25**: p. 25.
- 103. Kobayashi, N., et al., *Critical role of bradykinin-eNOS and oxidative stress-LOX-1 pathway in cardiovascular remodeling under chronic angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition.* Atherosclerosis, 2005. **5**: p. 5.
- 104. Cherry, P.D., et al., *Role of endothelial cells in relaxation of isolated arteries by bradykinin.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1982. **79**(6): p. 2106-10.
- 105. Busse, R. and I. Fleming, *Molecular responses of endothelial tissue to kinins*. Diabetes, 1996. **45**(1): p. S8-13.
- 106. Farhy, R.D., et al., *Role of kinins and nitric oxide in the effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors on neointima formation*. Circ Res, 1993. **72**(6): p. 1202-10.
- 107. Tazawa, S., T. Nakane, and S. Chiba, *Angiotensin II type 1 receptor blockade* prevents up-regulation of angiotensin II type 1A receptors in rat injured artery. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 1999. **288**(2): p. 898-904.
- 108. Jandeleit-Dahm, K., et al., *Elevated vascular angiotensin converting enzyme mediates increased neointima formation after balloon injury in spontaneously hypertensive rats.* J Hypertens, 1997. **15**(6): p. 643-50.
- 109. Kim, S., et al., Beneficial effects of combined blockade of ACE and AT1 receptor on intimal hyperplasia in balloon-injured rat artery. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2002. 22(8): p. 1299-304.
- 110. Holm, A.M., et al., *ACE-inhibition promotes apoptosis after balloon injury of rat carotid arteries*. Cardiovasc Res, 2000. **45**(3): p. 777-82.
- Wilensky, R.L., et al., Vascular injury, repair, and restenosis after percutaneous transluminal angioplasty in the atherosclerotic rabbit. Circulation, 1995. 92(10): p. 2995-3005.
- 112. Doggrell, S.A. and J.C. Wanstall, *Vascular chymase: pathophysiological role and therapeutic potential of inhibition*. Cardiovasc Res, 2004. **61**(4): p. 653-62.

- 113. Korshunov, V.A. and B.C. Berk, *Strain-dependent vascular remodeling: the "Glagov phenomenon" is genetically determined*. Circulation, 2004. 110(2): p. 220-6. Epub 2004 Jun 28.
- 114. Harmon, K.J., L.L. Couper, and V. Lindner, *Strain-dependent vascular remodeling phenotypes in inbred mice*. Am J Pathol, 2000. **156**(5): p. 1741-8.
- 115. Sindermann, J.R., et al., *Vascular injury response in mice is dependent on the genetic background*. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2005. 7: p. 7.
- 116. Cheng, Z.J., H. Vapaatalo, and E. Mervaala, *Angiotensin II and vascular inflammation*. Med Sci Monit, 2005. **11**(6): p. RA194-205. Epub 2005 May 25.
- 117. Schanstra, J.P., et al., *Bradykinin B(1) receptor-mediated changes in renal hemodynamics during endotoxin-induced inflammation*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2000. 11(7): p. 1208-15.
- Bergaya, S., et al., Flow-dependent dilation mediated by endogenous kinins requires angiotensin AT2 receptors. Circ Res, 2004. 94(12): p. 1623-9. Epub 2004 May 6.